IN THE SUPREME COURT (	Electronically Filed OF THE STATE OF NE2010A03:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown
PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF	Supreme Court Case No. 92294 Court
NEVADA,	District Court Case No. 16OC00161 1B
Appellant,	
V.	

Respondent.

NEVADA POLICY RESEARCH

INSTITUTE, INC.,

v.

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JOSHUA J. HICKS (#6679) ADAM HOSMER-HENNER (#12779) McDONALD CARANO 100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor, Reno, Nevada 89501 Telephone: (775) 788-2000 jhicks@mcwlaw.com ahosmerhenner@mcwlaw.com

Attorneys for Appellant

#### NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over PERS's appeal pursuant to NRS 34.310 ("The provisions of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure relative to new trials in, and appeals from, the district court, except so far as they are inconsistent with the provisions of NRS 34.150 to 34.290, inclusive, apply to the proceedings mentioned in NRS 34.150 to 34.290, inclusive.") and NRAP 3A(b)(1) ("A final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered.") PERS filed a timely Notice of Appeal on January 31, 2017. JA000461-463.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1.)Whether the District Court erred by requiring PERS to extract and disclose information from the statutorily confidential files of PERS's individual members?
- 2.) Whether PERS had a duty to create a new document or customized report in response to a public records request?
- 3.) Whether, under the *Bradshaw* balancing test, the unrefuted expert evidence presented by PERS concerning privacy and

 $\mathbf{2}$ 

cybercrime risks from disclosure outweighed a nonspecific public interest in open government?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NPRI filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus ("Petition") on July 6, 2016. JA000001-14. The Petition requested that the District Court order PERS to provide NPRI with "a record of retiree name, payroll amount, date of retirement, years of service, last employer, retirement type, original retirement amount, and COLA increases." JA000006. PERS filed a Motion to Dismiss on August 5, 2016 arguing that the Petition was not supported by a sworn affidavit in accordance with NRS 34.170 and that NPRI should be required to provide a more definite statement as the Petition did not clearly identify the public records request, the public records in question, or the relief sought. JA000026-35.

On the same day, August 5, 2016, the District Court issued an Order Directing Answer, requesting that PERS answer within thirty days. JA000023-25. Given the pending Motion to Dismiss, PERS then filed a Motion for Extension of Time and an Ex-Parte Motion for Order Shortening Time on August 17, 2016. JA000036-49. These motions were

never responded to by NPRI. NPRI responded to PER's Motion to Dismiss on August 23, 2016. JA000050-60. The District Court issued an order denying PER's Motion to Dismiss on September 16, 2016 (which was not received by PERS until September 20, 2016) requiring PERS to respond to the Petition for Writ of Mandamus by September 29, 2016. JA000077-82.

The District Court found that the eight categories of information requested in the petition ("a record of retiree name, payroll amount, date of retirement, years of service, last employer, retirement type, original retirement amount, and COLA increases") was somehow consistent with the five categories of information referenced in an email from NPRI to PERS ("(a) Retiree name; (b) Years of service credit; (c) Gross pension benefit amount; (d) Year of retirement; and (e) Last employer.") JA000081. At the evidentiary hearing in this matter, the district court recognized that NPRI's request "has been a bit of a moving target though, if you made request for a record that no longer existed at the time the request was made, why shouldn't you be required to do a new request..." JA000433 (Hr'g Tr. 103:15-24).

PERS filed its Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandamus ("Answer") on September 29, 2017. JA000086-278. On October 17, 2016, NPRI filed a Reply to PERS's Answer. JA000279-291. On January 17, 2017, the District Court held an evidentiary hearing at which the parties presented the testimony of Cheryl Price and Robert Fellner. JA000331-440. One week later on January 24, 2017, the District Court granted NPRI's Petition ("Order"). PERS timely appealed on January NPRI filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus 31, 2017. JA000461-463. ("Petition") on July 6, 2016. JA000001-14. The Petition requested that the District Court order PERS to provide NPRI with "a record of retiree name, payroll amount, date of retirement, years of service, last employer, retirement type, original retirement amount, and COLA increases." JA000006. PERS filed a Motion to Dismiss on August 5, 2016 arguing that the Petition was not supported by a sworn affidavit in accordance with NRS 34.170 and that NPRI should be required to provide a more definite statement as the Petition did not clearly identify the public records request, the public records in question, or the relief sought. JA000026-35.

 $\mathbf{5}$ 

On the same day, August 5, 2016, the District Court issued an Order Directing Answer, requesting that PERS answer within thirty days. JA000023-25. Given the pending Motion to Dismiss, PERS then filed a Motion for Extension of Time and an Ex-Parte Motion for Order Shortening Time on August 17, 2016. JA000036-49. These motions were never responded to by NPRI. NPRI responded to PER's Motion to Dismiss on August 23, 2016. JA000050-60. The District Court issued an order denying PER's Motion to Dismiss on September 16, 2016 (which was not received by PERS until September 20, 2016) requiring PERS to respond to the Petition for Writ of Mandamus by September 29, 2016. JA000077-82.

The District Court found that the eight categories of information requested in the petition ("a record of retiree name, payroll amount, date of retirement, years of service, last employer, retirement type, original retirement amount, and COLA increases") was somehow consistent with the five categories of information referenced in an email from NPRI to PERS ("(a) Retiree name; (b) Years of service credit; (c) Gross pension benefit amount; (d) Year of retirement; and (e) Last employer.") JA000081. At the evidentiary hearing in this matter, the district court recognized that NPRI's request "has been a bit of a moving target though, if you made request for a record that no longer existed at the time the request was made, why shouldn't you be required to do a new request . . ." JA000433 (Hr'g Tr. 103:15-24).

PERS filed its Answer to Petition for Writ of Mandamus ("Answer") on September 29, 2017. JA000086-278. On October 17, 2016, NPRI filed a Reply to PERS's Answer. JA000279-291. On January 17, 2017, the District Court held an evidentiary hearing at which the parties presented the testimony of Cheryl Price and Robert Fellner. JA000331-440. One week later on January 24, 2017, the District Court granted NPRI's Petition ("Order"). PERS timely appealed on January 31, 2017. JA000461-463.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## A. PERS Maintains Confidential Records For Public Employees and Retirees.

PERS is a public agency that is responsible for administrating the entire public employee retirement system in Nevada, including collecting contributions, investing contributions, paying benefits, and conducting audits. JA000119. This includes the retirement systems for the Executive, Legislative, and Judicial branches of Nevada's government. JA000124.

Public employers in Nevada transmit employees' confidential information and records to PERS in order to facilitate the provision of retirement benefits to these employees. JA000121. At the time of retirement, Retirees also fill out a Retirement Application Packet to provide PERS with supplemental information and updates to their information already on file. *Id.* PERS then maintains and supplements these individual files for its active members who are public employees in Nevada. *Id.* PERS also maintains individual files for retired members and beneficiaries (hereinafter "Retirees"). *Id.* These Retirees are individuals who "worked in the public sector . . . [became] vested and [are] no longer working" who collect a retirement benefit. JA000339 (Hr'g Tr. 9:1-6).

Information and records pertaining to individuals are organized into and accessed within an individual's file. JA000119. All information in the individual files is maintained as discrete, confidential record in the CARSON (computer automated retirement system of Nevada) database. *Id.* CARSON is a proprietary database, which is over 17 years old, programmed specifically for PERS and is treated as wholly

confidential. *Id.* Prior to the CARSON database, PERS maintained "paper files" that were "organized in physical file folders and stored in the file room." JA000340 (Hr'g Tr. 10:7-13).

The CARSON database is located behind comprehensive security safeguards in order to maintain member privacy. JA000119; *see also* JA000341 (Hr'g Tr. 11:16-12:9) (discussing PERS's "policies and procedures of the confidentiality of our files that each and every member of our staff signs and is trained on"). PERS strictly limits authorized access to the individual files and confidential information in the CARSON database and requires a personal waiver from the member, retiree, or beneficiary to release information contained within the records maintained in the individual file. *Id*.

PERS does not maintain physical files for its members or Retirees. JA000121. The information in the individual files is only kept in the CARSON database and located within the electronic folder belonging that the individual in that database. JA000341 (Hr'g Tr. 11:3-15).

### B. Transmittal of PERS Data to an Independent Actuary.

Article 9 of the Nevada Constitution requires PERS to employ an independent actuary and requires the PERS board to adopt actuarial

assumptions based upon the recommendations made by the independent actuary it employs. JA000121. The law and policy of the PERS Board require an actuary to analyze the financial status of member and Retiree obligations on a yearly basis. *Id.* PERS operates on a fiscal year calendar, beginning on July 1st and ending on June 30th of each year. *Id.* 

The independent actuary employed by PERS requires access to the confidential information contained with the individual files in order to analyze and value the retirement system. *Id.* The actuary and PERS discuss the necessary categories of information and these categories have changed over time based on the needs of the actuary and the operations of PERS. JA000122. Based on these discussions, the names of members and Retirees were not included in the data sent to the actuary from fiscal year 2014 forward because the names were unnecessary for the actuary to perform a valuation. *Id.*<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The District Court took some liberties with the evidence concerning why PERS altered its actuarial procedures. Ms. Price was asked whether the "deletion of names occurred as a result of Supreme Court order in 2013 ordering disclosure." JA000368 (Hr'g Tr. 38:19-22). Ms. Price's answer was that it was a possible explanation, but that she had not been involved in the specific conversations. JA000368-369 ("Possibly.") Furthermore, there is nothing unusual or untoward about a public agency altering its procedures in response to a Supreme Court

Prior to providing information to the independent actuary, PERS requires that the actuary agree to and execute a confidentiality agreement. JA000122. Once PERS receives the requests from the actuary, and the actuary has signed a confidentiality agreement, PERS extracts only the information that the actuary needs to value the retirement system from the individual files in the CARSON database. *Id.* This raw data is then password-protected and securely transmitted to the independent actuary ("Raw Data Feed"). *Id.* 

The transmittal of the Raw Data Feed to the independent actuary is a significant undertaking. Approximately 30 PERS employees are involved for "a couple of months" in gathering and validating the Raw Data Feed. JA000343 (Hr'g Tr. 13:2-16); JA000344 (Hr'g Tr. 14:7-17) ("We want to make sure that that information is updated because that's very important information for our actuary to have to value our system.") The Raw Data Feed is presented to the actuary as a spreadsheet that only contains data extracted from the individual files of the members and Retirees and does not contain information separate and apart from these individual files. JA000122. The Raw Data Feeds

decision, especially when that decision affects the agency's confidentiality obligations.

are generated on a fiscal year basis (July 1 through June 30) and are not generated on a calendar year basis. *Id.* 

#### C. Transmittal of the 2014 Data to NPRI.

Pursuant to its normal practices, PERS responded to its independent actuary's information request concerning Retirees by generating a Raw Data Feed for fiscal year 2014 ("FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data"). JA000122. The FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data was formatted as a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet and contained information extracted from the individual files of 57,157 Retirees. *Id.* Of this total, there were 50,605 service retirees and 3,328 disability retirees. *Id.* Furthermore, there were 3,224 adult and child survivor beneficiaries. *Id.* The adult and child survivor beneficiaries receive benefits based on their relationship to an active member or Retiree and may never have been public employees themselves, or even aware that their personal information is maintained by PERS. *Id.* 

The FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data includes the following information fields:

- ITEM NAME
- SYSTEM
- YEAR
- SB427 FLAG (2010\_RULE\_FLAG)
- MASTER ACCOUNT TYPE

- MASTER FUND
- MASTER STATUS
- MASTER LAST EMPLOYER
- MASTER EES CONTRIBUTIONS
- MASTER TOTAL SERVICE CREDIT
- MASTER SSN
- RECIPIENT SSN
- RECIPIENT RELATIONSHIP
- RECIPIENT OPTION
- RECIPIENT BIRTH DATE
- RECIPIENT SEX
- RECIPIENT MARITAL STATUS
- RECIPIENT EFFECTIVE DATE
- RECIPIENT GROSS AMOUNT
- RECIPIENT BASE AMOUNT
- RECIPIENT ADJUSTMENTS TO BASE (LEGISLATIVE ADJUSTMENTS)
- RECIPIENT TOTAL PRI AMOUNT
- RECIPIENT STOP DATE
- RECIPIENT STOP REASON
- PENDING BENEFICIARY FLAG
- BENEFICIARY BIRTH DATE
- CONTINUENCE AMOUNT FOR OPTION 6 AND 7
- ERPAID FLAG

JA000122-123.

NPRI requested that PERS create a new version of the FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data that included entries for the Retiree names. JA000010. PERS responded to NPRI's request to create a different version of the FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data by stating that the different version did not exist "and the Supreme Court order does not require us to create it." *Id.* 

PERS cannot create a custom report for FY 2014 due to account updates and changes to the individual files, which are dynamic files that are not preserved at specific points in time. JA000123-124. The information in the "CARSON system is not static . . . There's updates and there's a lot of information that changes over time. So it wouldn't be possible to have the exact same information of 2014 with the names." JA000359 (Hr'g Tr. 29:10-18.) There would be "no way to create an accurate custom report with the fiscal year 2014 data" as the District Court ordered. *Id.* (Hr'g Tr. 29:19-22).

In order for the FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data to be modified to include Retiree names linked to each data field as NPRI requested during the evidentiary hearing, PERS would have to dedicate at least two full-time staff members in its information technology department for at least two full days of staff time each. JA000124. This work would include extracting the Retiree names from the CARSON database and matching them up to the FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data and validating that the Retiree names were accurately included in the FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data spreadsheet. *Id.* Based upon the estimated staff time, the estimated cost for this project is \$1,300 although it could increase depending on data errors and issues. *Id.* 

Alternately, if PERS were to create a custom report for future fiscal years, this would "involve the specific coding of a program to query the individual members files in the CARSON data base." JA000360 (Hr'g Tr. 30:3-6). But this process could not be undertaken for a prior fiscal year due such as 2014 to the dynamic nature of the data. JA000359 (Hr'g Tr. 29:14-18).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 2013, the en banc Nevada Supreme Court unanimously held that PERS was not required to create a new document from the files of its retired public employees in response to a public records request. *PERS v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 88, 313 P.3d 221, 225 (2013) (citing NRS 239.010(1) (permitting only "inspection" and copying of public records)). In *Reno Newspapers*, Judge Russell of the First Judicial District Court had ordered PERS to create and furnish a report containing: "(a) The name of the retired employee; (b) The name of the retired employee's employer; (c) The retired employee's salary; (d) The retired employee's hire and retirement dates; and (e) The amount of the retired employee's benefit payment." JA000519-524. On appeal, this Court reversed Judge Russell holding, "to the extent that the district court ordered PERS to create new documents or customized reports by searching for and compiling information from individuals' files or other records, we vacate the district court's order." *Reno Newspapers*, 313 P.3d at 228. In 2017, Judge Wilson of the First Judicial District Court issued a nearly-identical order to Judge Russell's, requiring PERS to create a new document in response to a public records request by NPRI containing: "(a) Retiree name; (b) Years of service credit; (c) Gross pension benefit amount; (d) Year of retirement; and (e) Last employer" for the 2014 fiscal year. JA000472 (hereinafter referred to as the "Custom Report"). This Court cannot affirm the Order without directly overruling its unanimous, en banc decision in *Reno Newspapers* and it should not affirm for the reasons articulated below.

First, the District Court erred by concluding that the requested information was not confidential by statute. NRS 286.110(3) specifically exempts the "files of individual members or retired employees" from the definition of public records that are available for public inspection. The District Court noted that the "information requested in this case is substantially similar to the information requested in *Reno Newspapers.*" JA000468-469. But then it concluded "as the Supreme

Court did in *Reno Newspapers*, that PERS failed to cite any statute, rule, or case that bars production of the information NPRI requested on grounds the information is confidential." *Id.* 

This is a clear misreading of *Reno Newspapers*, which held that the "individuals' files have been declared confidential as a matter of law." 313 P.3d at 224. *Reno Newspapers* held that where "information is contained in a medium separate from individuals' files, including administrative reports generated from data contained in individuals' files, information in such reports or other media is not confidential merely because the same information is also contained in individuals' files." Id. Thus, it considered the situation of whether existing administrative reports must be disclosed pursuant to a public records request. The Court held that PERS had essentially waived the confidentiality of the information by using and including it within an administrative report, thus taking outside of the narrow confines of the statutory confidentiality. Here, NPRI is not seeking an existing administrative report and the District Court would require PERS to create a brand-new report from information that only exists in the confidential files, effectively using the compelled creation of that report

to self-justify its disclosure. This is the same logic as if a court ordered a party to turn over privileged documents to a third-party, on the basis that that the compelled transfer rendered the documents nonprivileged. NRS 286.110 and NRS 286.117 would be meaningless if the individual files remained confidential, but a requester could obtain all of the information within those files.

Second, the District Court held that PERS has "a duty to create a document that contains the requested information." JA000470. Neither the Nevada Public Records Act, NRS 239.001 et seq., nor any decision from this Court requires PERS to create a new record to satisfy a public records request. "If a person requests to inspect, copy or receive a copy of a public record that does not exist, a records official or an agency of the Executive Department is not required to create a public record to satisfy the request." NAC 239.867. Furthermore, NAC 239.869 provides that "the Nevada Public Records Act: A Manual for State Agencies, 2014 edition, and any subsequent edition issued by the Division which has been approved by the Administrator" is "hereby adopt[ed] by reference," thus giving it the force of law. The Nevada Public Records Manual explicitly states that an "agency is not required to organize

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