IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM OF NEVADA,

Appellant,

vs.

NEVADA POLICY RESEARCH INSTITUTE, INC. Supreme Court Case No.: 72274

CLERK OF

AUG 1 0 2017

DEPUTY CLERK

H A. BROWN

District Court Case No.: 16OC001611B

Respondent.

On Appeal from the First Judicial District Court Carson City, Nevada Honorable James E. Wilson, Jr.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

NPRI CENTER FOR JUSTICE JOSEPH F. BECKER, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 12178 75 Caliente Street Reno, Nevada 89509 Tel: (775) 636-7703 Fax: (775) 201-0225

Attorney for Respondent Nevada Policy Research Institute, Inc.



17-26822

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

PERS returns to this Court to re-litigate the records confidentiality issue decided against it by this Court as recently as late 2013.

By compiling all of its historic records (both those containing nonsensitive and sensitive information) into files categorized by individual in its CARSON database, PERS again hopes to hoodwink this Court into believing all PERS records are now statutorily confidential under the statutorilyundefined term, "individual member files." However, neither logic nor legislative history warrants such an over-inclusive definition of statutorilyexempt records.

Even if, *arguendo*, the confidentiality statute could be so contorted, this Court's *Blackjack Bonding* decision in 2015 nonetheless requires disclosure.

Because PERS attempted to circumvent this Court's 2013 order by altering, the very next year, the way in which its actuary report is kept – replacing names with social security numbers (which PERS duly redacts) – this case raises another issue upon which this Court has already ruled, namely its 2015 decision that requires government entities like PERS to compile two non-confidential, easily-compiled records to satisfy public records requests.

Lastly, in an attempt to avoid disclosure, PERS takes another run at the balancing test but again introduces only a supposition of speculative harm, which according to numerous decisions by this Court is insufficient to warrant withholding of records.

//

VI. ARGUMENT

[P]ublic employees lack a reasonable expectation of privacy in an expense the public largely bears after their retirement. In *SCERS*, *supra*, 195 Cal.App.4th at p. 469, 125 Cal.Rptr.3d 655, the court reached the same decision because, among other things, "a public pension is deferred public compensation." ... The "names of pension recipients combined with their pension amounts is not information of a personal nature. The information does not solely relate to private assets or personal decisions regarding retirees' continuing compensation for public service. Therefore, the pension amounts are more comparable to public salaries than to private assets." "[R]etirees' publicly funded pensions—like their previous salaries—are of interest to the public, and only through the disclosure can the public expect to prevent abuse."

San Diego Cty. Employees Ret. Assn. v. Superior Court, 196 Cal. App. 4th

1228, 1242, 127 Cal. Rptr. 3d 479, 489-90 (2011) (internal citations omitted).

A. Information Stored on a Government Computer is a "Public Record."

In its opening brief, PERS concludes that the Nevada Public Records

Act: A Manual for State Agencies, 2014 Edition has "the force of law." Appellant's Opening Brief at p. 18. That manual reads, "[a]s used in the Act, the term 'all public books and public records' includes everything within in [sic] the definition of official records in NRS 239.080(4), with the exception of those official records which are explicitly declared confidential by law."¹

¹ <u>http://nsla.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/nslanvgov/content/Records/Public_Records/</u> Bulletin3 PR_Manual.pdf at p.4.

According to the Nevada Public Records Act, "…'official state record' includes, without limitation, any: (a) Papers, unpublished books, maps and photographs; (b) *Information stored on magnetic tape or computer*, laser or optical disc. …" NRS 239.080(4) (emphasis added).

Thus, by PERS own admission, public records include "information stored on ... [a] computer." Interestingly, "PERS does not maintain physical files for its members or retirees." Appellant's Opening Brief at p. 9. Logically, then, the only avenue left for the public to access PERS records, is for that information to be extracted from PERS' computer database. Such extraction of a public record (information stored on a computer) is not "the creation of a new record or document" as Appellant would lead this Court to believe. Rather, it is the public record, itself.

Although this Court, citing an Ohio decision, held in 2013 that PERS is not required "to create new documents or customized reports," this Court thought it unnecessary to include the clarifying language from the Ohio Supreme Court as related by Ohio's Attorney General in its 2017 Ohio Sunshine Laws Manual which reads:

A database is an organized collection of related data. The Public Records Act does not require a public office to search a database for information and compile or summarize it to create new records. However, if the public office already uses a computer program that can perform the search and produce the compilation or summary

described by the requester, the Ohio Supreme Court has determined that the output already "exists" as a record for the purposes of the Public Records Act.

http://www.ohioattorneygeneral.gov/yellowbook at p. 8 (internal footnotes omitted).

NPRI specifically tailored its request to the exact pieces of information stored and maintained by PERS in their CARSON database in which they are held. JA Vol. 1 at 000059-60. Therefore, such records and the extracts thereof are both decidedly public and constitute neither the creation of a new record nor new document; they are merely the means by which an existing record is disseminated pursuant to the NPRA.

Any other interpretation is inherently illogical. For the legislature to declare by statute "information stored on a computer" to be a public record yet to deny any extraction thereof as "creating a new document or record" would, rather, create an exception which swallows the statute. Said differently, declaring information stored on a computer to be public <u>necessitates</u> that a government agency must make that information available in a format that can be accessed by the public.

//

//

B. PERS Renewed Supposition That 286.110(3) Precludes Disclosure is, Yet Again, Unavailing.

PERS again cites 286.110(3) in an attempt to convince this Court that everything stored in the CARSON database is "confidential." Appellant's Opening Brief at p. 16.

In 1977, when NRS 286.110(3) was enacted, the "individual member file" consisted only of one paper document within a collection of other paper documents which otherwise were deemed public. However, PERS now claims that the digital intermingling of information categorized and stored under the PERS member's identifier in the CARSON database is off-limits to the public.

Yet, in an attempt to re-litigate *PERS v Reno Newspapers*, Appellant is arguing that all information in its possession is confidential because it is categorized in the CARSON database by individual file folder, misconstruing the exception in NRS 286.110(3) which states, in relevant part, that all of PERS records are public with the exception of "individual member files." Importantly, however, the term "files of individual members" is **not** defined by statute.

Moreover, it is undeniable that the PERS files in 1977 — when NRS 286.110 was passed — were stored in an entirely different manner than today; namely, PERS has testified that prior to the creation of the CARSON computer database in 2000, it maintained "paper files" that were "organized in physical file folders and stored in the file room." JA Vol. 4 at 000340. PERS concedes

that it "does not maintain physical files for its members or Retirees." Appellant's Opening Brief at p.9. Given the fact that PERS maintains no physical files with retiree disbursement information, the only logical conclusion following from PERS' contention is that all of PERS records, books, and payout information are closed to the public as a result of a mere technological shift, despite no change of statute.

PERS' attempts to conflate the narrow definition of a members' physical file in 1977 – which the legislature intended to include only a select few categories of sensitive personal information, well beyond the scope of NPRI's record request – to now encompass all information in PERS possession, is an unduly broad construction.

To a large extent, this Court so recognized in 2013 when it held that:

PERS's position exceeds the plain meaning of NRS 286.110(3)'s restrictions, which must be narrowly construed to protect only individuals' files. NRS 239.001(3). In concluding that only individuals' files have been declared confidential as a matter of law, we specify that NRS 286.110(3)'s scope of confidentiality does not extend to all information by virtue of it being contained in individuals' files.

PERS v. Reno Newspapers Inc., 313 P.3d 221, 224 (2013).

NPRI does not dispute that the CARSON database may be organized in electronic file folders, categorized by individual member. However, as discussed above, treating everything contained in these recently-digitized electronic files to be as confidential as those few, highly-sensitive personal paper documents found in the 1977-era paper files, is overbroad and untenable under the public records statute and legislative history. What's more, the Legislative minutes strongly support this contention.

In the record relating to NRS 286.110(3), Senator Wilson asked then-PERS CEO Vernon Bennett to respond to concerns that this statute would reduce transparency.² The minutes therein show that Bennett reiterated that NRS 286.110 would not affect the fact that PERS minutes and books are public records. *See* fn. 2. Instead, it would merely maintain the confidentiality of members' physical, individual files which contain sensitive personal information, that is, "the key to whether people are entitled to certain services or whether they are denied it." *Id.* This, of course, almost certainly refers to disability claims and accompanying medical records rather than all information regarding taxpayer-funded retirement disbursements.

To further demonstrate that the legislature never contemplated the level of secrecy that PERS now claims under NRS 286, the legislative minutes reveal a subsequent hearing where PERS officials raise concerns that NRS 286, as written, did not provide enough secrecy. In response, the minutes quote Senator Wilson as having stated that, "if they were going to provide for confidentiality

² <u>https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/LHs/1977/</u> <u>SB173,1977pt1.pdf</u> at PDF p.46.

they should do it with more specificity than presently in the bill." *Id.* at PDF page 66. No such amendment or augmentation ever occurred. This text, again, is a clear recognition that NRS 286 was not intended to provide the complete secrecy as PERS now claims and constitutes unmistakable evidence that NRS 286.110 did not exempt all of PERS books, as PERS now asserts by unilaterally redefining the term 'individual member files' to encompass **all** information in their CARSON database.

PERS thus attempts to employ a novel definition of "individual member files" that is entirely divorced from the definition in use when the law was passed. PERS admits that there are no physical member files, as all information is stored in the CARSON database. And since that information is now arranged and compartmentalized by individual member, PERS asserts that all the information contained therein — which, again is all of PERS records — is now part of the "individual members file" and thus exempt for disclosure. This, again, due entirely to technological changes; not to legislative action.

Simply put, if PERS "new-technology" definition of confidentiality is correct, then the law stating that PERS books are open with the exception of individual members files has, in practice, been reworded to "PERS books are now closed." In fact, PERS would restrict even state officials from accessing PERS records. When asked by the trial court as to whether either the governor or members of the legislature would have access to PERS records under PERS' interpretation of NRS 286, PERS replied that "by statute," they would not. JA Vol. 4 at 000429-430.

A parallel issue was heard by multiple California Courts, which found that the term 'individual records of members' cannot be reasonably interpreted to include records of the type sought by NPRI; this from the state seemingly most likely to overprotect public employee records.

Like Nevada's NRS 286, California's "Section 31532 does not define the term 'individual records of members." *San Diego Cty. Employees Ret. Assn.* ["SDCERA"] *v. Superior Court*, 196 Cal. App. 4th 1228, 1237, 127 Cal. Rptr. 3d 479, 486 (2011):

Contrary to SDCERA's [public pension fund for San Diego County] position, the term does not plainly include records a retirement system creates for purposes of conducting the governmental function of calculating and paying out monthly pension benefits. An ambiguity exists when statutory language is "susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation." "If the statutory terms are ambiguous, we may examine extrinsic sources, including ... the legislative history."

Id. (internal citations omitted).

Moreover, "[t]he legislative history of section 31532 [did] not indicate the Legislature intended to exempt records a county retirement system creates to allow it to pay monthly benefits." *Id.* at 1238, 486. California courts have concluded that "the term 'individual records of members' in section 31532 cannot reasonably be interpreted to include the records CFFR [the records requestor] seeks, which SDCERA creates and uses to facilitate the periodic payment of pension benefits. The court in SCERS [Sacramento County Employees Retirement System] came to the same conclusion for many of the same reasons." *Id.* at 1241, 489 (internal footnotes and citations omitted).

Further damaging to PERS' argument, in the California cases the legislative history was silent. In the present case, however, the Nevada legislative history is unambiguous: the provision was intended only to keep a limited set of uniquely personal documents – such as medical records and disability claim information – confidential; it was not intended to conceal PERS' records in their entirety, as PERS now contends.

C. Even if, *Arguendo*, the Entire CARSON Database were Deemed Confidential, PERS Must Still Satisfy NPRI's Records Request Under *Blackjack Bonding*.

Even if, *arguendo*, this Court should entertain and adopt PERS' notion that because it converted all records to electronic records and all such records are now somehow confidential, NPRI still prevails under this set of facts.

Because: (1) PERS created two separate records to which PERS itself admitted below were public; JA Vol.4 at 000378-380 and (2) these records can be "readily compiled" to satisfy NPRI's public records request, "the agency is not excused from its duty to produce and disclose that information." *LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding*, 343 P.3d 608, 613 (2015).

In *Blackjack Bonding*, 343 P.3d 608 (2015), this Court held that a government entity "cannot deny a public records request on the basis of confidentiality if it 'can redact, delete, conceal or separate the confidential information from the information included in the public book or record," *Id.* at 610. And, "[w]hen an agency has a computer program that can readily compile the requested information, the agency is not excused from its duty to produce and disclose that information." *Id.* at 613.

Here, the requested public records are readily accessible, believed by PERS to be public, and thus *Blackjack Bonding* requires their disclosure. *See Id., generally.* While it is true that "[a] governmental entity's duty to disclose a public record applies only to records within the entity's custody or control," NRS 239.010(4), here, PERS does have the requested record within its control, and in an accessible format, having stated in its Opening Brief that the FY 2014 Retiree Raw Data was formatted as a Microsoft Excel Spreadsheet and included Social Security numbers as one of the fields of information contained within. Appellant's Opening Brief at p.12.

PERS also testified below that they produce a monthly payment register every month that contains, among other things, members' Social Security numbers and their names. JA Vol. 4 at 000378-379. Thus, PERS could satisfy NPRI's request simply by compiling these two readily identifiable, existing reports to attach names onto the FY 2014 Raw Data Feed (sometimes referred to as the "Actuary Report"). *Id.* Further, this makes it clear that PERS' personnel are capable of "extracting" records and breaking them down into separate spreadsheets.

Yet, PERS refuses even to perform even basic Microsoft Excel functions in appending the names of the Retirees as an information field in the Raw Data Feed.

NPRI's request of PERS to provide the 2014 retiree payroll records does not force PERS to search for and compile new information from retirees files or other records. In fact, the requested information has previously been disclosed by PERS when the 2013 report was ordered by this Court to be released to Reno Newspapers.

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